70704-3

No. 70704-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

DAMIEN WILHELM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION
B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 2
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE4
E. ARGUMENT 8
 The trial court erred by admitting under ER 404(b) evidence that the defendant had previously assaulted his girlfriend
 a. While finding the evidence was highly prejudicial, the court admitted evidence of a previous assault against the girlfriend for the purpose of "credibility."
b. ER 404(b) forbids the use of propensity evidence to establish that a defendant is the type of person who commits criminal acts
c. The trial court erred in admitting the evidence of a prior assault to assess the girlfriend's credibility
d. Admission of the prior assault was prejudicial error requiring reversal of the convictions
The defendant received deficient representation where counsel obtained an instruction that told the jury that the alleged victim's testimony was inconsistent
The Washington constitution prohibits trial judges from commenting on the evidence
b. The instruction commented on the evidence by telling the jury that the girlfriend's testimony was inconsistent.
c. Defense counsel's performance was deficient in seeking the flawed instruction

		d. Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant				
	3.	The trial court erred in not bifurcating the trial on the charge of felony violation of a court order				
	4.	The prosecutor's improper closing argument shifted the burden of proof violating the defendant's right to a fair trial				
F.	CONC	CLUSION				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Supreme Court Cases

<u>Krulewitch v. United States</u> , 336 U.S. 440, 69 S. Ct. 716, 93 L. Ed. 790 (1949)					
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)					
Washington Supreme Court Cases					
In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) 29					
Peizer v. City of Seattle, 174 Wash. 95, 24 P.2d 444 (1933)					
State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003)					
State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003)					
State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 39 P.3d 294 (2002) 16					
State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)					
State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)					
State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)					
<u>State v. Jacobsen</u> , 78 Wn.2d 491, 477 P.2d 1 (1970)					
State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)					
<u>State v. Levy</u> , 156 Wn.2d 709, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006)					
State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)					
State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008)					
<u>State v. Oster</u> , 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002)					
<u>State v. Reed</u> , 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)					
State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008)					

Wn.2d 299, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993)					
Washington Court of Appeals Cases					
Bowcutt v. Delta N. Star Corp., 95 Wn. App. 311, 976 P.2d 643 (1999) 27					
<u>In re Det. of Mines</u> , 165 Wn. App. 112, 266 P.3d 242 (2011)					
<u>In re Personal Restraint Pet. of Wilson</u> , 169 Wn. App. 379, 279 P.3d 990 (2012)					
State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 259 P.3d 270 (2011)					
State v. Bowen, 48 Wn. App. 187, 738 P.2d 316 (1987)					
State v. Grant, 83 Wn. App. 98, 920 P.2d 609 (1996)					
State v. Holmes, 43 Wn. App. 397, 717 P.2d 766 (1986)					
State v. Monschke, 133 Wn. App. 313, 135 P.3d 966 (2006)					
Constitutional Provisions					
Const. art. 1, § 3					
U.S. Const. amend. 14					
Statutes					
RCW 26.50.110(1), (3), (4)					
RCW 9A.36.041					
Rules					
ER 404(a)					
ER 404(b) passim					
Other Authorities					
11A Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 300 (3d Ed)					

A. INTRODUCTION

To admit evidence of a prior bad act under ER 404(b), the evidence must be relevant for some legitimate purpose. It is improper to admit the evidence to show that a defendant has a propensity to commit bad acts. Here, in a prosecution for assault and felony violation of a court order, the State sought to admit under ER 404(b) evidence of a prior assault against the defendant's girlfriend, the alleged victim. The purported purpose was to assist the jury in evaluating the credibility of the girlfriend's testimony. The girlfriend, however, testified consistently that she had been very drunk at the time and that she did not remember the defendant throwing anything at her. Because the evidence of a prior assault was not relevant as to the witness's credibility and served as propensity evidence, this Court should reverse the convictions for fourth degree assault and felony violation of a court order. Alternatively, this Court should reverse for ineffective assistance of counsel, failure to bifurcate the proceedings, and prosecutorial misconduct.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The court erred in admitting under ER 404(b) the defendant's prior conviction for assault. CP 77 (Finding of Fact/Conclusion of Law 3).
- Trial counsel was ineffective in obtaining a limiting instruction that commented on the evidence by telling the jury that the girlfriend's testimony was inconsistent.
- 3. The court erred in denying the defendant's request to bifurcate the trial on the charge of felony violation of a court-order.
- 4. The court erred in overruling the defendant's objection that the prosecutor's closing argument shifted the burden of proof.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The defendant's girlfriend testified consistently that she did not remember being assaulted by the defendant. She had memory problems because she had been heavily intoxicated after a night of drinking with the defendant. She readily admitted that she had been uncooperative with police because she knew there were no-contact orders forbidding the defendant from contacting her and she did not want him to get in trouble. Was evidence that the defendant had previously assaulted the girlfriend admissible under ER 404(b) for the purpose of evaluating the girlfriend's

credibility? If yes, was it reasonable for the court to conclude that the probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice?

- 2. The limiting instruction given by the court told the jury that it could not consider the evidence of a previous assault in deciding the current charge of assault. The instruction, however, told the jury that it could use the evidence in evaluating the credibility of the girlfriend and "the inconsistencies" in her testimony. Did this instruction comment on the evidence by telling the jury that the girlfriend's testimony was inconsistent?
- 3. The girlfriend's testimony, if viewed as credible by the jury, established that she did not remember being assaulted by the defendant. The limiting instruction, by telling the jury her testimony was inconsistent, effectively told the jury to disbelieve her testimony about not remembering being assaulted. Was defense counsel ineffective in obtaining an instruction that unfavorably resolved a factual question?
- 4. One predicate on the charge of felony violation of a court order was that the defendant had violated two court orders before. To remove any prejudicial effect these prior convictions might have had when the jury was deciding the current charge, the defendant proposed that the proceeding be bifurcated so that the jury would only hear about the two prior violations after deciding the other elements of the crime. The court

denied the motion to bifurcate, reasoning that the case law did not support this procedure. The case law, however, did not forbid this procedure. Did the court abuse its discretion in denying the motion to bifurcate when it incorrectly thought it did not have discretion under the case law?

5. The defendant argued that the State had not met its burden of proving that the court orders forbidding contact with his girlfriend were in existence or that he had knowledge of their existence. The evidence established that court orders are sometimes recalled and that the computer database does not recognize this fact. During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that because there was no evidence that the orders had been recalled, the jury could not have a reasonable doubt on the contested elements. Did the court err in overruling the defendant's objection that the prosecutor's argument shifted the burden of proof? If yes, is there a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Damien Wilhelm with felony violation of a court order (domestic violence) and third degree assault. CP 16-18. The charges were based on events that happened at a grocery store early in the morning of March 11, 2013. CP 16-18; 7/11/13RP 8-9, 33. Earlier that evening, Wilhelm went out to a bar with his girlfriend, Leah Hensel, and their friend, Heather Wilmore. 7/11/13RP 62-63, 119. Before leaving for

the bar, the three drank alcohol and became "pretty" intoxicated. 7/11/13RP 121, 144-45.

Wilhelm, Hensel, and Wilmore continued drinking at the bar. 7/11/13RP 64, 99-97, 122. While at the bar, Wilhelm and Hensel went back to the car they had arrived in and drank there as well. 7/11/13RP 65, 71. By the time they left the bar, all three were very drunk. 7/11/13RP 97, 99-101, 122, 145. Damien Keitt, 1 a friend they had met at the bar, left with them. CP 5; 7/11/13RP 63, 121, 123.

The four planned to go back to the condo where Hensel lived, but they missed the exit and decided to stop at a QFC (Quality Food Center). 7/11/13RP 73, 123. Around 3:00 a.m., Wilhelm and Hensel went into the store while Wilmore and Keitt waited in the car. 7/11/13RP 76; ex. 2. Because Wilhelm and Hensel were taking too long to return, Wilmore and Keitt eventually went in as well. 7/11/13RP 76-77; ex. 2.

According to Gary Morrison, an employee at the QFC, the group of friends appeared to be under the influence of alcohol. 7/11/13RP 11, 22-23. Wilhelm asked him where the alcohol was, but Morrison told him he could not sell alcohol after 2:00 a.m. 7/11/13RP 10. Later, as

¹ This last name is based on the certificate of probable cause in the record. CP 5. At trial, Hensel and Wilmore did not know his last name so he was referred to as "other Damien" so as to not confuse him with the defendant, Damien Wilhelm. Keitt was not called as a witness.

Morrison was working at the front of the store, he heard a commotion coming from aisle 13. 7/11/13RP 12-13, 48. He saw Hensel on the floor on her knees. 7/11/13RP 14. He also saw Keitt and Wilhelm fighting. 7/11/13RP 16-17, 48. Some grocery items were on the floor. 7/11/13RP 49-50. Another employee at the store called the police. 7/11/13RP 18. After the scuffle between Keitt and Wilhelm subsided, he saw Wilhelm and Hensel leave the store. 7/11/13RP 37; see Ex. 2.

According to Wilmore, who was drunk and uncertain of events, she heard Hensel and Wilhelm arguing in the store. 7/11/13RP 78-80, 101, 109. Although she had stated before she had not seen anything, she testified she saw Wilhelm throwing grocery items at Hensel. 7/11/13RP 81, 104, 107. She believed she saw a box hit Hensel in the shoulder. 7/11/13RP 107, 111. Hensel was upset and on the ground. 7/11/13RP 82-83. Keitt grabbed Wilhelm from behind and wrestled him to the floor. 7/11/13RP 84. Afterward, Wilhelm left the store. RP 85-86.

Hensel, because she was very drunk, did not remember what happened inside the QFC. 7/11/13RP 124. She only recalled going into the store and Wilhelm running out of the store. 7/11/13RP 124-25. She did not remember Wilhelm throwing anything at her. 7/11/13RP 124. She did remember that she did not want to talk to the police because she did not want Wilhelm to get into trouble. 7/11/13RP 126. She knew there

was a court order forbidding Wilhelm from contacting her. 7/11/13RP 126. She remembered that she had a cut on her head, but did not remember what caused it. 7/11/13RP 145.

Police arrived in response to a call about two men fighting.

7/12/13RP 24-25. They found Hensel in the parking lot. 7/12/13RP 13,

31. She was intoxicated. 7/11/13RP 162, 168; 7/12/13RP 14. Hensel declined to give a statement. 7/12/13RP 17. Police found Keitt and Wilmore inside the store. 7/12/13RP 33. They were also intoxicated.

7/12/13RP 14. The police found Wilhelm on foot about a quarter mile away. 7/12/13RP 36, 39. After a brief pursuit, they arrested Wilhelm.

7/12/13RP 41-43. Wilhelm was intoxicated. 7/11/13RP 179. At the CrR 3.5 hearing, Wilhelm testified that he only remembered drinking, going to the QFC, and waking up in jail. 7/9/13RP 23-28.

Before trial, the court denied Wilhelm's motion to bifurcate the trial on the charge of felony violation of a court order, which was predicated on two prior violations or an assault. 7/9/13RP 47-49. Over Wilhelm's objection, the court admitted under ER 404(b) evidence that Wilhelm had previously assaulted Hensel. 7/9/13RP 65.

At trial, Wilmore, Hensel, the investigating police officers, and Morrison (the QFC employee) testified. A surveillance video from the QFC was admitted as evidence. RP 25; Ex. 2. The video shows the front

of the store at some self-check stands. Ex. 2. At various points in the video, Wilhelm, Hensel, Wilmore, Keitt, Morrison, and another QFC employee can be seen on the video. Ex. 2; RP 31-42, 91-94, 133-35. While the video shows Wilhelm and Keitt wrestling on the floor at the end of a grocery aisle, the video does not show an assault upon Hensel. Ex. 2.

The jury found Wilhelm guilty of violating a court order. CP 25.

The jury acquitted him of the third degree assault charge and found him guilty of the lesser offense of fourth degree assault. CP 26-27.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred by admitting under ER 404(b) evidence that the defendant had previously assaulted his girlfriend.
 - a. While finding the evidence was highly prejudicial, the court admitted evidence of a previous assault against the girlfriend for the purpose of "credibility."

Before trial, Wilhelm moved to exclude all evidence of prior bad acts under ER 404(b). CP 14; 7/9/13RP 52. The State sought to have two of Wilhelm's previous assault convictions admitted under ER 404(b), purportedly so that the jury could evaluate Hensel's credibility. Supp. CP __; sub no. 40; 7/9/13RP 49-52, 57-59. The State expected her testimony to be inconsistent. In ruling, the court reasoned the evidence had a legitimate purpose. 7/9/13RP 62. The court stated that the probative value and the prejudicial effect were both high. 7/9/13RP 62. The court

excluded one of the assaults as too prejudicial. 7/9/13RP 64-65. The court admitted the other assault, premised on Hensel testifying to conflicting versions of events:

The Court admits evidence of the defendant's September 2011 conviction of Assault 4th Degree - DV against Leah Hensel, predicated on Ms. Hensel actually testifying to conflicting versions of the events. The evidence of the September 2011 assault serves to elucidate Ms. Hensel's state of mind, which is relevant for the purpose of assessing her credibility, which will be a central issue during the State's case in chief. The jury is entitled to assess evidence of the victim's credibility with full knowledge of the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic violence. Particularly in this case, the jury will need to assess Ms. Hensel's behavior, including why she did not report the assault to the police herself, why she invited contact with the defendant despite the no contact orders, and why she was reluctant to cooperate with police or the prosecution. In light of Ms. Hensel's inconsistent acts, the defendant's prior bad acts help explain the context of the relationship, her minimization/denial of the incident, and her state of mind and credibility.

CP 77; see also 7/9/13RP 61-67. The court's oral ruling explained that that Hensel had to testify contrary to what she told police in order for the evidence of the assault to come in. 7/9/13RP 61 ("if she testifies in accord with her statements to police on the night in question, the court ruling does - - the state is not permitted to use the 404(b).").

Hensel testified that other than recalling that Wilhelm left the QFC, she did not remember what happened inside the store. 7/11/13RP 124-25. She did not remember Wilhelm throwing anything at her.

7/11/13RP 129. She did not remember what she told police that night, though she recalled not wanting to talk to them. 7/11/13RP 128. Hensel did not fear Wilhelm and wanted to continue their relationship. 7/11/13RP 143, 148. Despite the lack of any internal inconsistency in her testimony or a showing that her testimony contradicted what she told police, the State elicited from Hensel that Wilhelm had been convicted of assaulting her in September 2011. 7/11/13RP 140.²

b. ER 404(b) forbids the use of propensity evidence to establish that a defendant is the type of person who commits criminal acts.

Under ER 404(b), evidence of other crimes is inadmissible to prove that a person has a propensity to commit a crime, although such evidence may be admitted for other purposes:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b).3

² Later, a police officer testified that Hensel, while intoxicated at the scene, had told him that she had been in a fight with Wilmore. 7/11/13RP 164. This statement was admitted only as impeachment evidence. 7/11/13RP 163-64.

³ ER 404(a) also contains the prohibition against propensity evidence.

ER 404(b) is a "categorical bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Thus, under ER 404(b), evidence that Wilhelm assaulted Hensel before could not be used to show that Wilhelm had again assaulted Hensel. See e.g., State v. Holmes, 43 Wn. App. 397, 400, 717 P.2d 766 (1986) (premise of "once a thief, always a thief," is not legally relevant under ER 404(b)).

Nevertheless, the same evidence, although inadmissible for this forbidden purpose, may be admissible for another purpose despite the danger that it might be used for the forbidden purpose. See Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 420. To be admissible, the trial court must (1) find that the bad act occurred, (2) identify the legitimate purpose of the evidence, (3) determine that the evidence is relevant, and (4) weigh the probative value against any unfair prejudicial effect. Id. at 421. "Evidence of prior misconduct is likely to be highly prejudicial, and should be admitted only for a proper purpose and then only when its probative value clearly outweighs its prejudicial effect." State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 862, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

In a series of cases, this Court and the Washington Supreme Court have addressed the application of ER 404(b) in prosecutions involving

allegations of domestic violence: <u>State v. Grant</u>, 83 Wn. App. 98, 920 P.2d 609 (1996); <u>State v. Magers</u>, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008); and <u>State v. Baker</u>, 162 Wn. App. 468, 259 P.3d 270 (2011).⁴ The trial court's ruling was based on these cases. CP 77; 7/9/13RP 64-65.

Grant was prosecuted for violating a court order that forbade him from contacting his wife. Grant, 83 Wn. App. at 101-02. His wife testified that Grant hit her while she was driving a car. Id. at 101. When speaking with the police in Grant's presence, his wife did not identify Grant. Id. at 102. When Grant was removed from her presence, she accused Grant of attacking her. Id. at 102. After the wife received a letter from Grant, who was in jail, she later contacted Grant's defense attorney. Id. at 108. The State sought to admit evidence of prior assaults by Grant against his wife through an expert witness, the wife's therapist. Id. This Court held the evidence was admissible under ER 404(b), reasoning that the evidence was relevant to prove the alleged assault and for the jury to assess the wife's credibility. Id. at 108-09. The evidence explained his wife's "inconsistent statements and conduct." Id. at 109.

⁴ Our Supreme Court is currently reviewing a conviction for felony violation of a court order where the trial court admitted evidence of prior assaults under ER 404(b). State v. Gunderson, 179 Wn.2d 1013, 319 P.3d 800 (2014) (granting review). Oral argument was held on May 13, 2014, and a decision is pending.

Magers involved a prosecution for assault, unlawful imprisonment, and a misdemeanor violation of a no-contact order. Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 177-78. According to a police officer, Magers' girlfriend told the officer that she was afraid of Magers, that Magers had threatened to kill her with a sword, and that he had not allowed her to leave the home. Id. at 179. After Magers was charged, the girlfriend sent a letter to the prosecutor's office recanting what she had told police. Id. At trial, her testimony was generally consistent with her recantation letter. Id. at 180. A fractured majority on the Court held that the admission of evidence of prior domestic violence was permissible under ER 404(b) to help the jury assess the credibility of the recanting girlfriend. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 186 (plurality opinion); Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 195 (Madsen, J., concurring).

In <u>Baker</u>, the State charged Baker with assault. <u>Baker</u>, 162 Wn.

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