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

assisting the jury in evaluating her credibility. Hensel's testimony 

and behavior might have affected how the jury evaluated the 

charged incident: she had willingly been in Wilhelm's presence on 

the date in question despite knowing of the no contact order; she 

had not called the police after the alleged assault but rather 

followed Wilhelm out of the store, crying out his name for him to 

return; she had been uncooperative with police at the scene and 

claimed various excuses for her injuries, declaring her love for 

Wilhelm; and she testified in a manner that seemed designed to 

admit to the court order violation but avoid a conviction for assault. 

5RP 18,120,123-25,164,182-83; 6RP 10-12,16,31-32. 

Wilhelm contends that evidence of the prior conviction was 

"pure propensity evidence" because there was no inconsistency in 

Hensel's testimony, either internally or with her statements to 

police. App. Sr. 10, 16. This is incorrect. Hensel's testimony was 

both internally inconsistent and contradictory to what she told 

police. Upon the officers' arrival, Hensel told them alternately that 

her injuries were caused by a fall, and by Wilmore during a fight. 
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5RP 164, 183. When confronted by Officers Geiszler and 

Huberdeau about why she wouldn't provide a statement, she 

responded that she loved Wilhelm and didn't want him to get in 

trouble. 5RP 182; 6RP 16. These statements in and of themselves 

are internally inconsistent. 

They also directly contradict Hensel's later testimony on the 

stand. Instead of stating that she had been injured in a fall or 

during a fight with Wilmore, she now claimed that she did not 

remember the assault at all. 5RP 123-25. She was able to testify 

as to what happened immediately before and immediately after the 

assault, but asserted that her memory of the incriminating event 

itself was no longer intact, and that she had somehow "blacked out" 

for those select moments. kl Furthermore, when pressed on the 

stand, she admitted that she was "pretty sure the police asked me 

for a statement and I refused," which also directly conflicts with her 

account to police that she had fallen or sustained a cut on her head 

during a fight with Wilmore. 5RP 150. 

Hensel's trial testimony was also inconsistent with her 

pretrial victim impact statement, in which she neither mentioned a 

lack of memory nor made any attempt to deny that the incident had 

happened. 6RP 131. Instead, at trial, Hensel reiterated the one 
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refrain she had made since the very inception of the case: that she 

deeply loved Wilhelm, could not imagine life without him, felt there 

was nothing wrong with their relationship, and hoped they would 

soon be able to be together again. 5RP 120,131-21,140. She 

also testified that despite claimed memory loss surrounding the 

attack, she "wanted him to get in as less [sic] trouble as possible" 

and "just want[ed] him to get better," a telling statement that is both 

internally inconsistent with her own account of not remembering the 

assault and that contradicts the alternate excuses she gave to 

police that night. 5RP 120. If she could not remember what 

happened, there was no basis for her to believe that Wilhelm 

needed to "get better." 

Still, Wilhelm argues that because Hensel stated at trial that 

she did not remember the assault, and claimed at some points that 

she did not remember what she said to police, there was nothing 

"inconsistent" about her testimony. This is incorrect on two points. 

First, a professed lack of memory does not automatically render 

one immune to a charge of inconsistency. This Court has stated 

that "[i]nconsistency is to be determined, not by individual words 

and phrases alone, but by the whole impression or effect of what 

has been said or done. On a comparison of the two utterances, are 
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they in effect inconsistent? Do the two expressions appear to have 

been produced by inconsistent beliefs?" State v. Dickensen, 48 

Wn. App. 457, 467,740 P.2d 312 (1987). 

A court may exercise some discretion in determining 

whether a witness' lack of memory seems feigned and not genuine. 

See ~ United States v. Rogers, 549 F.2d 490, 496 (8th Cir. 1999) 

("A claimed inability to recall, when disbelieved by the trial judge, 

may be viewed as inconsistent with previous statements when the 

witness does not deny that the previous statements were in fact 

made."). Here, the trial court was in the best position to observe 

Hensel's testimony and determine whether her claim of memory 

loss was real or fabricated. The circumstances of her arguably 

strategic memory loss support the latter conclusion. Her claim that 

she did not remember what she told the police did not harmonize 

with her later admission that she was "pretty sure" they asked her 

for a statement and she refused, and her ability to explain what she 

had bought in the store did not correspond with her alleged 

"blackout." 5RP 135, 150. 

Secondly, Wilhelm's argument ignores the fact that, even 

though Hensel claimed that she could not remember the assault, 

she still presented a picture of inconsistent conduct to the jury. 
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Hensel testified to consensually contacting Wilhelm and failing to 

notify or cooperate with authorities. Like the victim in Magers, 

Hensel also sent a letter to the prosecutor's office opposing the 

charges. 5RP 131-39. These acts alone presented the issue of 

inconsistency to the jury. Jurors would likely have wondered why 

Hensel continued contact with Wilhelm despite court orders, and 

why she failed to call the police despite an obvious attack 

witnessed by others. 

Jurors also would have wondered why she repeatedly 

asserted throughout the trial how much she loved Wilhelm despite 

testimony from multiple eyewitnesses that he had stood over her, 

calling her "dirt" and hurling items at her on the ground. By allowing 

the jury to hear how Hensel had reacted to Wilhelm's first assault in 

the very beginning of their relationship in September 2011, and how 

she had forgiven him, the court better equipped the jury with tools 

to evaluate Hensel's motives and her credibility, and to give context 

to the couple's relationship. 

Finally, the court properly weighed the probative value of the 

prior incident against its prejudicial value. In an abundance of 

caution, the court exercised its discretion in favor of Wilhelm by 

denying the State's motion to admit both assault convictions 
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against Hensel and allowing only evidence of the September 2011 

incident. Wilhelm contends that the State had no evidentiary need 

to introduce the September 2011 assault because Hensel's 

knowledge of the no contact orders presented a sufficient 

alternative "motive [for her] to 'forget' what happened." App. Sr. 16. 

This argument collapses because Wilhelm does not explain how 

Hensel's knowledge of the order would cause her to lie about the 

assault at trial; Hensel testified openly about both her knowledge of 

the no contact order and her alleged blackout regarding the attack. 

The prior conviction was properly admitted, and this Court 

should affirm Wilhelm's convictions for assault and felony violation 

of a court order. 

c. Any Error Was Harmless. 

Even if the court abused its discretion in admitting the prior 

conviction, any error was harmless. 

"It is well settled that the erroneous admission of evidence in 

violation of ER 404(b) is analyzed under the lesser standard for 

nonconstitutional error." State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 

269 P.3d 207 (2012). A nonconstitutional error is harmless ifthere 

is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have 
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been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. 

Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980). 

Here, the evidence against Wilhelm was overwhelming. 

There was a videotape of Wilhelm standing next to Hensel at the 

QFC, in direct violation of the no contact order. Hensel, Heather 

Wilmore, and employee Gary Morrison all identified themselves in 

the videotape and testified that Wilhelm was with Hensel that night. 

Hensel admitted that both she and Wilhelm knew about the 

no contact orders, both of which Wilhelm had signed in open court. 

There was an eyewitness to the assault: Wilmore testified 

consistently throughout the case that she saw Wilhelm hurl objects 

at Hensel , calling her "dirt" as Hensel cried on the ground. 

Despite attempts to discredit Wilmore and her own admission of 

intoxication, Wilmore testified that the assault itself left an indelible 

impression on her because of its shocking nature. She also 

sustained a cut on her finger after wading into the fray and getting 

struck by one of the objects. 

Wilmore's observations were also supported by Morrison, 

who heard Wilhelm screaming at Hensel and then saw him 

standing in front of her as she cried on the ground. Morrison also 

heard Keitt yelling at Wilhelm that "you shouldn't hit a girl" right 
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before Keitt was seen wrestling Wilhelm to the ground. Wilhelm 

himself revealed consciousness of guilt when he ran from the store 

when police were called, and then ultimately fled down a steep 

embankment covered with blackberry bushes, hiding face down in 

a culvert despite repeated commands to come out. 

Moreover, the trial court limited the potential impact of the 

prior bad act by restricting the evidence to only the fact of 

conviction, the date, and its effect on Hensel. The jury was thus 

shielded from the facts of the prior assault, and was encouraged to 

focus its attention on Hensel and the relevant issue of her reaction. 

Error was harmless, and the court should deny Wilhelm's 

request to reverse his convictions. 

2. WILHELM CANNOT MEET HIS BURDEN OF 
ESTABLISHING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF 
COUNSEL. 

Wilhelm next claims that his counsel erred in proposing a 

limiting instruction that restricted evidence of his prior assault 

conviction to "assessing the credibility of Leah Hensel and 

explaining the inconsistencies in her testimony." He argues that the 

instruction was a comment on the evidence. This argument should 

be rejected. Wilhelm can neither establish deficient performance 

nor prejudice. 

- 29-
1407-18 Wilhelm COA 



a. Relevant Facts. 

Defense counsel crafted the following written limiting 

instruction for the evidence admitted under ER 404(b): 

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for 
only a limited purpose. This evidence consist [sic] of 
a prior assault conviction of Mr. Wilhelm and may be 
considered by you only for the purpose of assessing 
the credibility of Leah Hensel and explaining the 
inconsistencies in her testimony. You may not 
consider it for any other purpose. You may not 
consider it to determine if an assault occurred in this 
case. Any discussion of the evidence during your 
deliberations must be consistent with this limitation. 

CP '19, 38 (emphasis added). Wilhelm objects only to the italicized 

portion of the above instruction. 

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the 

defendant must show (1) that his attorney's conduct fell below an 

objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) that this deficiency 

resulted in prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 

687-88,104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 

109 Wn.2d 222,226,743 P.2d 816 (1987). Prejudice exists where 

"there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the 

result of the trial would have been different." State v. Hendrickson, 

129 Wn.2d 61,78,917 P.2d 563 (1996). If the defendant fails to 

demonstrate either prong, the inquiry ends. kL Courts strongly 
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presume that counsel has provided effective representation 

and they are "highly deferential" when scrutinizing counsel's 

performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. 

b. Counsel's Performance Was Not Deficient 
Because The Instruction Was Not A Comment 
On The Evidence. 

Article IV, section 16 of the Washington State Constitution 

prohibits a judge from making comments that convey to the jury the 

judge's personal opinion of the credibility, weight, or sufficiency of 

evidence introduced during a trial. State v. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d 

491,495,477 P.2d 1 (1970). Thus, a court may not instruct the 

jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law. 

State v. Hartzell, 156 Wn. App. 918, 938, 237 P.3d 928 (2010). 

A jury instruction as a judicial comment on the evidence is reviewed 

de novo, in the context of the instructions as a whole. State v. 

Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). 

In evaluating whether a trial court's words or actions amount 

to a comment on the evidence, the appellate courts look at the facts 

and circumstances of the particular case. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d at 

495. A trial court must strike a balance between the obligation to 

give a satisfactory limiting instruction and the obligation to refrain 

from commenting on the evidence. Hartzell, 156 Wn. App. at 
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940-41. The fact that a limiting instruction could have been worded 

differently to more clearly avoid any issue of comment on the 

evidence does not necessarily mean that the wording used was 

improper. kL at 939-40. 

Jury instructions are read in a common-sense manner and 

are sufficient if they permit each party to argue his theory of the 

case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole, properly 

inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. State v. Clark, 143 

Wn.2d 731,771,24 P.3d 1006 (2001). An appellate court will 

"review the instructions in the same manner as a reasonable juror." 

State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 719, 871 P.2d 135 (1994). 

When the limiting instruction here is viewed as a whole, in 

context and through the eyes of a reasonable juror, the term 

"inconsistencies in her testimony" does not necessarily convey the 

court's personal opinion of Hensel's credibility nor imply that she is 

not credible . In the clause immediately preceding the phrase at 

issue, the instruction tells jurors that they may use the evidence for 

the purpose of "assessing the credibility of Leah Hensel." This 

instructs them that they are charged with evaluating the still-open 

question of Hensel's credibility, a directive repeated in Instruction 

No. 1: "You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. 
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You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to 

the testimony of each witness." CP 33. 

One must also examine the structure of the limiting 

instruction as a whole. The admonition does not tell the jury that 

the evidence is included for the purpose of "assessing the credibility 

of Leah Hensel "by" explaining the inconsistencies in her testimony. 

Instead, it separates the two clauses by the word "and" and thus 

indicates that they are two separate permitted purposes. 

The cases to which Wilhelm cites where instructional defects 

merited reversal all involved faulty instructions that misstated the 

elements of the crime in the to-convict portion or misrepresented 

the burden of proof -- serious defects that clearly undermined a 

reviewing court's confidence in obtaining the same verdict absent 

their inclusion. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 871, 215 P.3d 177 

(2009) (arguing and offering an instruction erroneously stating the 

perceived level of harm required for self-defense); In re Wilson, 169 

Wn. App. 379, 279 P.3d 990 (2012) (misstating the requirements of 

accomplice liability). Furthermore, only one of these involved a 

comment on the evidence. State v. Secker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 65, 935 

P.2d 1321 (1997) (instruction answered the jury's ultimate question 

about whether a building constituted a school and thereby "relieved 
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the State of its burden to prove all elements of the sentence 

enhancement statute"). 

Here, the allegedly offending words are very subtle and do 

not constitute an element of the crime nor misstate the law. They 

do not constitute a comment on the evidence. 

c. Wilhelm Has Not Demonstrated Prejudice. 

Even if this Court finds that the phrase constitutes a 

comment on the evidence and thus deficient performance, Wilhelm 

cannot show that he was prejudiced. To prevail on an ineffective 

assistance claim, a defendant must show a reasonable probability 

that "but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been 

different.,,6 Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d at 78. A mere showing that an 

error by counsel had some conceivable effect on the outcome is 

insufficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. 

Here, Wilhelm cannot establish that the wording in the 

instruction prejudiced him because Hensel's testimony was, in fact, 

patently inconsistent. No reasonable juror could maintain that 

Hensel's shifting accounts of what happened - from falling, to

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